
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

 INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 

) 

 

 )  2:16-cr-00028-JMS-DML-1  

 )   

v. )  

 )  Violations: Title 18, United States Code,  

)  Sections 666, 1001, and 1343 

 

FRANKLIN V. FENNELL  )  

   

GOVERNMENT’S SANTIAGO PROFFER 

   

The United States of America, by and through its undersigned counsel, hereby submits 

the following proffer pursuant to United States v. Santiago, 582 F.2d 1128 (7th Cir. 1978), in 

support of the admissibility of co-conspirator statements under the Federal Rule of Evidence 

801(d)(2)(E).   

I. Background 

A. The Charges 

The Indictment alleges that the Defendant perpetrated a fraudulent scheme to exploit his 

position as Facilities Director of the Vigo County School Corporation (“VCSC”) for his and his 

co-conspirators’ personal financial gain.  The Indictment alleges that the Defendant and Frank 

Shahadey, a sworn deputy with the Vigo County Sheriff’s Department working in VCSC School 

Security, instructed a third-party vendor of outdoor maintenance services to submit artificially 

inflated invoices for work performed (or not performed, as the case may be) at VCSC schools.  

The Defendant then used his authority as Facilities Director to approve these inflated invoices, 

causing them to be paid using VCSC funds – with the intent to divert the inflated portions back to 

the Defendant and his co-conspirators. 
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The Indictment contains three types of charges.  First, the Indictment alleges nine counts 

of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 2, which represent nine payments of falsely 

inflated invoices (among many others) that occurred as a result of the scheme to defraud described 

above.  Second, the Indictment alleges one count of theft from a program receiving federal funds, 

because the victim of the above-described scheme is the VCSC, which receives more than $10,000 

annually from the U.S. Department of Education, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 666 and 2.  Finally, 

the Indictment alleges two counts of the Defendant having made false statements to agents of the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, when the Defendant flatly, but 

falsely, denied receiving anything of value from any third-party vendor doing business with the 

VCSC, including the vendor identified in the Indictment, referred to as “Business A.” 

B. Summary of the Evidence at Trial 

Although the Defendant is not charged with a conspiracy count, the government’s evidence 

at trial will establish that the Defendant did in fact conspire with Shahadey and Individual A, the 

owner of Business A, to carry out the scheme to defraud VCSC alleged in the Indictment.  The 

evidence will show that beginning in early 2014, the Defendant, Shahadey, and Individual A used 

the Defendant’s authority as Facilities Director to cause VCSC to pay inflated invoices to Business 

A for the purpose of funneling the inflated portion back to the Defendant, to Shahadey, and 

occasionally to Individual A, typically in cash.  The evidence will show that the conspiracy 

among all three men lasted for over two years, until Individual A began cooperating with federal 

investigators began shortly after search warrants were executed at VCSC locations.  Despite the 

search warrants, however, the conspiracy among the Defendant and Shahadey continued until early 

November 2016, when the Defendant and Shahadey were arrested. 
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The evidence will describe the Defendant’s authority as VCSC Facilities Director to select 

and authorize payments to vendors for performing maintenance work at VCSC schools, as well as 

the process for doing so.  Specifically, VCSC employees will testify, and documents will show, 

that the Facilities Director was responsible for soliciting bids from vendors for maintenance work 

at schools, choosing the vendor to perform the work, negotiating the price charged, and ultimately 

signing off on the vendor’s invoice, once work was completed, to authorize a VCSC check to be 

cut to the vendor.  Employees will thus testify that the Defendant’s approval of Business A’s 

invoices, which typically involved the Defendant’s signature on a VCSC document called a 

“purchase order,” constituted the Defendant’s affirmation that the work was done properly and for 

a fair price, negotiated at arm’s length.  Accordingly, a purchase order with the Defendant’s 

signature on it caused VCSC to cut a check to Business A for the amount of the invoice the 

Defendant had approved. 

Individual A will testify that in early 2014, the Defendant approached him about submitting 

inflated invoices for outdoor maintenance work like trimming trees and removing shrubs and 

kicking the inflated portion back to him and Shahadey.  At the same time, other VCSC Facilities 

Department employees will testify that, historically, the responsibility for outdoor maintenance 

work fell to them – until early 2014 when the Defendant instructed them that he had selected a 

vendor who would be doing that kind of work.  The evidence will show that, for the next two 

years, Individual A, at the Defendant’s and Shahadey’s direction, submitted inflated invoices to 

VCSC for a variety of outdoor maintenance work and then kicked the inflated portion back to the 

Defendant and Shahadey (and sometimes himself) in cash.  The evidence will show that the 

Defendant, and later Shahadey, told Individual A what price to charge for Business A’s work.  

Often, they instructed Individual A to overcharge VCSC by $1,000 – allowing $500 for each of 
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the Defendant and Shahadey – but on occasion they wanted more so they instructed Individual A 

to inflate the invoices by several thousand dollars.  The evidence will further show that, on 

several occasions, Business A never did the work for which it invoiced VCSC, resulting in the 

entire invoice amount being treated as “inflated” – of which the Defendant was well aware. 

In June 2016, the FBI executed search warrants at VCSC locations and interviewed the 

Defendant, among others.  During that interview, and another in July, the Defendant flatly denied 

that he had ever received anything of value (including cash) from any VCSC vendors (including 

Business A specifically).  At the same time – and unbeknownst to the Defendant and Shahadey 

– Individual A confessed to the conspiracy and agreed to cooperate with federal investigators, 

including by covertly recording conversations with the Defendant, including several conversations 

that Shahadey also participated in.  Over the next several months, Individual A covertly recorded 

numerous interactions with his former co-conspirators. 

In these recorded conversations, which will be played at trial, the Defendant’s own words 

corroborate the existence of their conspiracy to defraud VCSC, and, shockingly, establish that the 

conspiracy continued among Shahadey and the Defendant even after the FBI search warrants.  In 

particular, the Defendant attempted to assuage Individual A’s stated concerns about the FBI’s 

investigation in light of their earlier fraudulent activity.  The Defendant assured Individual A that 

he would not tell the FBI about the scheme (e.g., “I can tell you right now [Individual A] I’m never 

going to admit that”), and he instructed Individual A how to respond to FBI inquiries if asked 

about it (e.g., “Only thing that I told them was you guys [Individual A and his wife] gave money 

to the GoFundMe account for my daughter to go get her dog.”).  And, repeatedly, the Defendant 

continued to instruct Individual A to inflate invoices for the purpose of paying kickbacks to him 

and Shahadey.   
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In all, the evidence will show that the Defendant’s conspiracy to defraud overcharged 

VCSC by over $100,000.  

II. Legal Standard 

An out-of-court statement is not hearsay, and is admissible, if that statement is offered 

against an opposing party and “was made by the party’s co-conspirator during and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy.”  Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(E); 802.  To admit co-conspirator statements under 

Rule 801(d)(2)(E), the government must show by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) a 

conspiracy existed, (2) the defendant and the declarant were members of the conspiracy, and (3) 

the statements were made during and in furtherance of the conspiracy.  United States v. Davis, 

845 F.3d 282, 286 (7th Cir. 2016).  This is true even if the co-conspirator is not charged in the 

case.  See United States v. Wantuch, 525 F.3d 505, 511 n.3 (7th Cir. 2008) (“[T]he statements of 

unindicted coconspirators are admissible as non-hearsay”); United States v. Mahkimetas, 991 F.2d 

379, 382–84 (7th Cir. 1993) (admitting statements of an uncharged co-conspirator).  Indeed, Rule 

801(d)(2)(E) may be applicable even though the government has not formally charged anyone with 

conspiracy.  United States v. Cox, 923 F.2d 519, 526 (7th Cir. 1991).   

A conspiracy exists where two or more persons join together to commit an unlawful act. 

United States v. Navarreti, 125 F.3d 559, 562 (7th Cir. 1997).  A person becomes a member of a 

conspiracy when they know about the conspiracy and intentionally agree to join it.  United States 

v. Bey, 725 F.3d 643, 648 (7th Cir. 2013).  The government may rely solely upon circumstantial 

evidence to establish the existence of a conspiracy.  Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60 (1942); 

United States v. Katalinich, 113 F.3d 1475, 1480 (7th Cir. 1997).  The court may consider the co-

conspirator’s statements themselves, Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171 (1987), but there 
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also must be some independent evidence that corroborates the existence of the conspiracy and the 

participation of the defendant and declarant, Davis, 845 F.3d at 286.    

A statement satisfies the “in furtherance” requirement when the statement becomes part of 

the information flow between conspirators intended to help each perform his role.  United States 

v. Curtis, 37 F.3d 301, 307 (7th Cir. 1994).  The statement “need not have been exclusively, or 

even primarily, made to further the conspiracy.”  Garlington v. O’Leary, 879 F.2d 277, 284 (7th 

Cir. 1989).  The government satisfies the “in furtherance” requirement as long as “some 

reasonable basis” exists to conclude that the statement furthered the conspiracy.  Id.  Statements 

that further the conspiracy can assume many forms, including statements to recruit potential 

conspirators, statements seeking to control damage to an ongoing conspiracy, statements advising 

conspirators about the progress of the conspiracy, and statements intended to conceal the 

conspiracy.  Id. at 283.   

A district court may conditionally admit co-conspirator statements based on a pretrial 

proffer by the government.  Davis, 845 F.3d at 286 (citing United States v. Santiago, 582 F.2d at 

1130–31).  The Government does not need to provide the specific statements of each declarant to 

satisfy the standards of a Santiago proffer.  United States v. McClellan, 165 F.3d 535, 553 (7th 

Cir. 1999). 

III.  The Proffer 

 The government’s evidence at trial will establish that the Defendant participated in, and 

indeed orchestrated, a conspiracy to defraud VCSC among himself, Shahadey, and Individual A.  

The government’s evidence will include the testimony of Individual A; estimates, invoices, and 

other documents relating to Business A’s work at VCSC schools; the testimony of VCSC 
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employees; and perhaps most critically, numerous covertly recorded statements of the Defendant.1  

Among the government’s evidence will be testimony about and covert recordings of out-of-court 

statements made by the co-conspirators, namely:   

 The testimony of Individual A concerning communications with the Defendant and 

Shahadey during the course of their conspiracy about inflating invoices and paying 

kickbacks, and 

 Covertly recorded conversations involving both the Defendant and Shahadey in 

furtherance of the fraudulent scheme captured by Individual A after Individual A began 

cooperating with federal investigators.   

This Proffer summarizes the government’s evidence at trial and includes examples of 

documents and testimony, which have long been made available to the Defendants in discovery.  

The documents and potential witnesses referenced in this Proffer are not intended to be exhaustive.  

They are offered merely to illustrate the nature of the government’s evidence at trial and to meet 

the government’s burden under Santiago as to the existence of the conspiracy and the conditional 

admissibility of co-conspirator statements.  

A. Individual A’s Testimony Regarding the Conspiracy 

At trial, Individual A will admit that, at the direction of the Defendant and Shahadey, he 

intentionally overcharged VCSC for Business A’s outdoor maintenance work for the purpose of 

paying cash kickbacks to the Defendant and Shahadey (and on occasion, himself).  He will 

explain how the scheme began, how it worked, what the roles of each man were, and how the 

scheme continued even after the FBI search warrants in June 2016.  In so doing, Individual A’s 

                                                 
1
  Other hearsay rules will apply to much of this evidence, such as Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(A) (party 

admissions) and 803(6) (business records exception), which are not addressed in this filing.   
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testimony will describe an agreement among the three men to defraud VCSC for their personal 

financial gain.  

Specifically, Individual A will testify that he had not performed work for VCSC until early 

2014 when the Defendant and Shahadey, whom he had known personally, approached him about 

performing demolition work at a VCSC property.  (Individual A and Business A were 

experienced with demolition work.)  Shortly thereafter, the Defendant and Shahadey asked 

Individual A to perform tree trimming and other outdoor maintenance work at VCSC schools. 

Despite lacking extensive experience with tree trimming, Individual A agreed to do that work.  

The first couple of projects proceeded without incident.  Then, within just a couple of months, 

things changed.   

At trial, Individual A will testify that in or around April 2014, the Defendant and Shahadey 

instructed Individual A to pay them $500 each in connection with a large tree trimming project at 

Terre Haute North Vigo High School.  Individual A agreed and paid them $500 each in cash out 

of his “profit” on this job, for which he received $18,800 from VCSC.  Further, Individual A will 

testify that around the same time, in the midst of the tree trimming job, the Defendant approached 

Individual A in person at the high school and asked him to perform additional work at the high 

school and Honey Creek Elementary School.  The Defendant told Individual A specifically what 

price to charge ($4,600) and to pay him and Shahadey cash kickbacks (and to keep some cash for 

himself).  Individual A, again, agreed and paid the kickbacks accordingly, even despite not 

actually performing this work – a fact he discussed with the Defendant and which the Defendant 

told him not to worry about. 

Individual A will testify that these kinds of kickbacks continued over the next two years.  

Individual A’s company performed dozens of outdoor maintenance jobs for VCSC schools.  The 
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vast majority of times, Individual A would submit estimates and invoices to the Defendant in his 

capacity as VCSC Facilities Director, the Defendant would approve the invoices and cause 

Individual A to be paid by VCSC, and Individual A would kick cash back to Shahadey and the 

Defendant.  Individual A will testify that the Defendant and Shahadey instructed Individual A 

which work to perform (or purport to perform, as the case may be), how to describe the work on 

Business A’s estimates and invoices, and the price to charge for the work.   

Further, contrary to the typical VCSC invoicing process, the Defendant instructed 

Individual A to submit both the estimate and invoice for the work, both of which contained the 

same price – the price the Defendant wanted – at the same time.  Thus, Individual A submitted 

the inflated invoice even before he completed the work.  This allowed the Defendant the ability 

to approve the invoice, and thus payment to Individual A, at any time, regardless of whether the 

work was completed or not.  And, Individual A will testify that the Defendant approved invoices 

knowing the work was never completed (or even intended to be completed).   

With regard to how much to charge, after the first job or two, where Individual A paid the 

kickbacks out of his “profit,” the Defendant instructed Individual A to inflate his invoices by the 

amount of the cash kickbacks to Shahadey and the Defendant.  Individual A will testify that the 

kickback amount was typically $500 each, resulting in invoices being inflated by a total of $1,000.  

On occasion, however, the Defendant and Shahadey wanted more.  This occurred when Individual 

A would perform large projects as well as more miscellaneous projects that were difficult to price, 

such as cleaning VCSC school parking lots, with which Individual A had no experience.  The 

Defendant instructed Individual A specifically what price to charge, which resulted in a larger 

kickback for the Defendant and Shahadey.   
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In addition, Individual A will testify that the Defendant often sought increased amounts 

when he anticipated a relatively large expenditure in the near future.  For instance, Individual A 

will testify that, in mid-2015, the Defendant had planned a family vacation to Walt Disney World 

in Florida.  During the month leading up to the trip, the Defendant instructed Individual A to 

inflate an invoice by a total of $9,000, which the Defendant approved and for which Individual A 

received payment from VCSC, leading to cash kickbacks to the Defendant and Shahadey of $4,500 

each.  Similarly, in early 2016, the Defendant planned to purchase a house and instructed 

Individual A to inflate invoices to cover a $10,000 kickback that he could use in the down payment.  

Individual A will testify that, in response, he inflated the invoices as much as he was comfortable 

with, but he advised the Defendant that he was not comfortable inflating them by $10,000 without 

making them seem unreasonable.  Individual A will testify that he paid the Defendant a cash 

kickback from these paid invoices of approximately $5,000. 

B. Individual A’s Handwritten Notes Regarding Inflated Prices and Kickbacks 

At trial, Individual A’s testimony regarding the conspiracy – and the various participant’s 

roles in it – will be corroborated by documents, by law enforcement surveillance, and most 

poignantly, by covertly recorded statements of the Defendant.  With regard to documents, the 

government will introduce copies of the estimates and invoices that Individual A submitted, as 

well as the VCSC records documenting the Defendant’s approval of the invoices and VCSC’s 

payments caused by those approvals.  Individual A will testify as to the amounts by which the 

Defendant and Shahadey instructed him to inflate those estimates and invoices.   

In addition, certain documents contain Individual A’s handwritten notes, and Individual A 

will testify that some of those notes, which he wrote after talking with the Defendant or Shahadey, 

represent the amount the invoice should be inflated to cover the kickbacks.  For instance, on a 
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document describing tree trimming work to be performed at Davis Park Elementary in 2015, 

Individual A handwrote “4800” and “700” in the top right corner.  Individual A will testify that 

“4800” represents the price of $4,800 that he was instructed to charge, and “700” indicated cash 

kickbacks to the Defendant and Shahadey of $700 each.  The invoice for this project, which the 

Defendant approved, was for $4,800. 

 C. FBI Surveillance of Shahadey Delivering Money to Fennell 

In addition to documents, the FBI’s physical surveillance of Shahadey and the Defendant 

further corroborates Individual A’s account of the conspiracy.  In June 2016, Individual A 

received a $33,700 check from the VCSC as payment for multiple jobs Business A had completed 

prior to the execution of the federal search warrants earlier that month.  Shortly after the warrants, 

Individual A began cooperating with the FBI.  Individual A will testify at trial that he informed 

FBI agents that Shahadey and the Defendant each expected to receive $3,000 in cash from that 

check.  So FBI agents provided Individual A with the necessary cash to make the previously 

agreed kickback payments to Shahadey and the Defendant.  Individual A then met with Shahadey, 

gave him $6,000 in cash, and told Shahadey that the money was to be split with the Defendant.  

The meeting was audio-recorded and observed by FBI who were conducting surveillance.  

Consistent with Individual A’s instructions to Shahadey, FBI agents observed Shahadey then get 

into his car and drive to the Defendant’s home and walk to the Defendant’s backyard.   

D. Covertly Recorded Statements of the Defendant 

Between July 2016 and October 2016, Individual A recorded dozens of phone and in-

person conversations with the Defendant.  As the jury will hear, the nature of these conversations 

evolved, particularly as time passed after the Defendant was interviewed by federal investigators 

in June 2016 and again in July 2016.  The Defendant became willing to discuss their prior criminal 
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activity with Individual and even to continue instructing Individual A to inflate invoices.  The 

Defendant can be heard attempting to assure Individual A that he (the Defendant) would not tell 

the FBI about their fraud scheme and advising Individual A what to say to the FBI if asked if he 

paid kickbacks.  The Defendant can also be heard instructing Individual A to pay kickbacks for 

tree trimming and stump removal in the same way as they had done throughout the prior two years 

– inflate the invoice by $1,000 to pay Shahadey and the Defendant $500 each.   

The following represents several examples of these covertly recorded conversations and 

the Defendant’s and Shahadey’s continued fraudulent conduct. 

1. August 2016:  Approving an Inflated Invoice and Telling Individual 

A, “You never have to worry about [the Defendant confessing to the 

FBI]” 

For example, on multiple occasions in late July 2016, the Defendant and Individual A 

discussed outdoor maintenance work needed at Ouabache Elementary School.  The work 

consisted of removing seven tree stumps, cutting down a dead tree, and trimming several other 

trees.  These conversations were covertly recorded.  Individual A told the Defendant that the cost 

to remove the stumps would be $300 per stump, for a total of $2,100.  The Defendant directed 

Individual A to draft a proposal for the removal of the stumps and to draft a separate proposal for 

the tree removal and trimming.   

On August 1, 2016, Individual A met with the Defendant and provided him the estimates 

and invoices for the work to be completed at Ouabache Elementary School, including those for the 

removal of the seven stumps.  Instead of $2,100, however, the estimate and invoice for the stump 

removal stated a price of $3,100.  This amount was intended to reflect Individual A’s price of 

$300 per stump, as well as the expected inflated kickback amount of $1,000 which would be split 

between the Defendant and Shahadey.   
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During this meeting, which was recorded, Individual A and the Defendant discussed the 

FBI’s investigation at VCSC, including the Defendant’s previous meetings with the FBI.  

Individual A asked the Defendant what he should say if the FBI questioned him.  The Defendant 

responded: “Only thing that I told them was you guys [Individual A and his wife] uhhh (U/I) gave 

money to the GoFundMe account for my daughter to go get her dog.  That’s the only thing.”  

Later, Individual A asked if the Defendant and Shahadey had exchanged text messages regarding 

the kickbacks.  Individual A referred to the kickbacks using the Arabic word “geeb,” which the 

three men had used to refer to the kickbacks throughout their fraud scheme.  The Defendant 

responded, “no.”  

After several similar exchanges, the Defendant told Individual A that he had nothing to 

worry about: 

DEFENDANT: . . . . That’s the scary part about the whole thing [Individual A], I don’t 

know that they know enough about what they’re investigating to 

[laughing].  

 

INDIVIDUAL A: The scary part, well I-I’m glad we talked ([UI) you had me scared to death. 

I thought, Franklin you went to them. I thought you told them what we 

did. I was like flipping out. Cuz you were the other few days. Way you 

were acting towards me I was like, Oh my god (OV). I –I thought that’s it 

all. He went and told em all the shit we’ve been pulling. I was like oh my 

god. He uh I was like I-I look at me Franklin I look the best I’ve looked a 

day in ten years (UI). Look at me. Okay, (OV) I’ve lost weight like 

nobody’s business, I was scared to death. I knew you were gonna go 

tell’em something, I was like ahh. 

 

DEFENDANT: You never have to worry about that [UI] Now if they recorded you right 

here, we’re all going down [UI] [laughing] . . .  

 

On August 19, 2016, Individual A met with Shahadey and talked about the kickback on 

the stump removal job.  During the meeting, Shahadey called the Defendant and put him on 

speakerphone.  Shahadey asked where Individual A could meet him, presumably to pick up the 
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documentation approving of the stump removal job.  The Defendant told him to meet at a VCSC 

school.   

Later that day, Individual A met the Defendant at the school, and the Defendant provided 

Individual A with a signed purchase order that approved of the removal of the seven stumps.  

Consistent with the inflated estimate and invoice Individual A provided on August 1, the purchase 

order approved a job cost of $3,100 ($2,100 for the stump removal; $1,000 for the kickback 

payments).  Business A completed the stump removal over the next couple of days.   

On October 27, 2016, Individual A received a VCSC check for the stump removal work.  

The amount of the check was $3,100, which at the direction of agents, Individual A deposited.  

Agents had provided Individual A with $1,000 in cash and instructed Individual A to meet with 

Shahadey to deliver his share of the kickback to him.  During the meeting, which was recorded, 

Shahadey told Individual A to give the Defendant’s share of the kickback to him as well: “Give it 

to me because I got to give it to him . . . . He wants you to give it to me.  He does not want—to 

make sure there is no (UI) to you and him.”  Individual A refused, “I know how you are, Frank.  

You will give him less money.”  In response, Shahadey called the Defendant and put the 

conversation on speakerphone, which can be heard on the covert recording.  Shahadey asked the 

Defendant, “You want me to take ten of this stuff.  Farris [Individual A] is here with me.  You 

want me to get yours?”  The Defendant responded, “Sure.”  Shahadey then turned to Individual 

A and said, “Told you.” 
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2. September 2016:  Instructing Individual A to Inflate Another Invoice 

and Telling Individual A, “I can tell you right now [Individual A] I’m 

never going to admit that . . . Just as long as you know you’re not.” 

On September 2, 2016, the Defendant met with Individual A at VCSC schools to discuss 

additional tree work that the Defendant wanted Business A to complete for the VCSC.  The 

meetings were again recorded.  Critically, the two also discussed the FBI’s investigation and 

others who had been interviewed.  Individual A again expressed concern about the investigation 

in light of their prior fraudulent activity.  The Defendant explicitly reassured Individual A that he 

would not confess to the fraud and that there was nothing to worry about: 

INDIVIDUAL A: Well that’s good. Because I was scared to death (UI). . .   

DEFENDANT:  (OV) I don’t… 

INDIVIDUAL A:  I thought me, you and uhh Shahadey were packing our toothbrushes.  

DEFENDANT:  Yeah, I don’t think. You know. I can tell you right now [Individual A] 

I’m never gonna admit–  

INDIVIDUAL A: Okay. 

DEFENDANT:   Just as long as you know you’re not– 

INDIVIDUAL A: I’m not admitting nothing. 

 

 *  *  * 

INDIVIDUAL A: Then we don’t have nothing to worry about, ok. So, I mean.  The only 

thing we got to worry about is “nine” being so much greedy, wanting 

more, more, more. You know what I mean? That’s the only thing we got 

to keep under control.  If we would have stuck to our plan like we uhh 

said, five [hundred] each, we would’ve been good.  But, you know, it 

got bigger. Five thousand, two thousand   

DEFENDANT:   (OV) Yeah, don’t forget uhh 

INDIVIDUAL A: (OV) But you know, uhh, like on these, we can just do five [hundred] each 

on these and, uhh, we would be good, we’d be good.   

DEFENDANT:   Yeah, we’ll be good.   

INDIVIDUAL A: (OV)  Alright. 
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DEFENDANT:   I’m not worried about it.  (UI)  Like I said, we’ll fix it.   

At trial, Individual A will provide context for this conversation.  For instance, Individual 

A will explain that the phrase “packing our toothbrushes” was a phrase previously used among the 

Defendant, Shahadey, and Individual A to refer to going to prison.  Thus, as noted above, in 

response to Individual A’s stated concern that they were going to prison as a result of the FBI’s 

investigation, the Defendant responded, “I can tell you right now [Individual A] I’m never gonna 

admit . . .  Just as long as you know you’re not–“ 

Individual A will also testify that his later reference to “nine” was commonly known among 

the three men to refer to Shahadey.  (“Nine” was a reference to Shahadey’s call sign/unit number 

with the Vigo County Sheriff’s Department.)  Therefore, during this conversation, Individual A 

expressed that had they inflated invoices by only $1,000 ($500 each), instead of the much larger 

kickbacks that had occurred during their scheme – which were driven by “nine being so much 

greedy, wanting more, more, more” – then their fraud scheme would have likely remained 

undetected.  So, Individual A proposed that they inflate the tree trimming invoices they were 

discussing by only $1,000. 

On September 13, 2016, the Defendant met with Individual A to discuss additional outdoor 

maintenance work at Ouabache Elementary School.  The meeting was recorded.  They 

discussed the total price of two jobs.  Consistent with their past practice, and their earlier 

conversation on September 2, the Defendant instructed Individual A to inflate the invoice by 

$1,000, with a kickback of $500 each for the Defendant and Shahadey:  

INDIVIDUAL A: Alright well I’m uh I’m fifty-two sixty. Six hundred per stump (UI). 

DEFENDANT:   Okay. (UI) 

INDIVIDUAL A: What do you want me to put, what do you want me to make the invoice? 

DEFENDANT:   You (UI) the big tree. 
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INDIVIDUAL A: The big tree. This is—this is—this is just the big tree. That’s that big tree 

there and this is this stump.  One tree, one—one stump.  Fifty-eight—

fifty-eight sixty total for both. You want two—one invoice or two 

invoices? 

DEFENDANT:   Um two put that other.  I already got the other one. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Which one? 

DEFENDANT:   The tree.  For that invoice, I’m not, I mean proposal for the tree.  For 

that dead one out front. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Yeah but that’s—that’s a different.  That’s uh—that’s fourteen—isn’t 

that like fourteen hundred something. 

DEFENDANT:   Yeah yeah yeah. 

INDIVIDUAL A: So you got that invoice but this is for that big uh—the big tree. 

DEFENDANT:   [OV] For the one in the middle playground. 

INDIVIDUAL A: In the playground.  That—so I’m sure you guys want to take this uh… 

DEFENDANT:   Stump yeah.  That would be (UI)?  Right? 

INDIVIDUAL A: Sixty-five even. 

DEFENDANT:   Yea. 

INDIVIDUAL A: For both or for…Sixty-five for this? 

DEFENDANT:   No for both that’s good… 

INDIVIDUAL A: Sixty-five? 

DEFENDANT:   Put both down. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Sixty-eight. 

DEFENDANT:   Sixty. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Sixty-eight sixty? 

DEFENDANT:   Mmhm. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Five and five? 

DEFENDANT:   Mmhm. 

 

Case 2:16-cr-00028-JMS-DML   Document 125   Filed 12/04/17   Page 17 of 22 PageID #: 645



 

18 

 

At trial, Individual A will testify that his price for removing the second tree and the stump 

totaled $5,860 (“fifty-eight sixty total for both”), which was to be contained on two invoices, as 

the Defendant instructed.  He will further testify that the Defendant directed Individual A to 

increase the price by $1,000 to a total of $6,860 (“sixty-eight sixty”) so that the Defendant and 

Shahadey could each receive a $500 kickback (“five and five”). 

Consistent with these conversations, on October 18, 2016, Individual A received two 

purchase orders for the tree and stump work at Ouabache Elementary School.  The purchase 

orders, which the Defendant had approved, contained a total price of $6,860, just as the Defendant 

had planned. 

3. October 2016:  Instructing Individual A to Inflate Still More Invoices 

and Split the Kickback “Fifty Fifty” 

On October 13, 2016, the Defendant met Individual A at Ouabache Elementary School 

again to discuss removal of a third large tree and stump.  The conversation was recorded.  

Individual A told the Defendant that the tree removal would cost $3,800.  When Individual A 

asked the Defendant about the price he should put on the invoice, the Defendant responded $4,800, 

reflecting the $1,000 inflated price and $500 per person kickback.  (The two of them confirmed 

the $4,800 price later in the conversation.)  Then, they discussed the price for the stump removal, 

which would also be inflated by $1,000.  Finally, Individual A asked the Defendant how much of 

the $2,000 overage that he should pay to Shahadey: 

INDIVIDUAL A: . . . . he’s wearing me out.  What’s he getting? 

DEFENDANT:   I don’t care.  Whatever you (UI) 

INDIVIDUAL A: You, listen, that’s on you. 

DEFENDANT:   (IA) 

INDIVIDUAL A: You’re making that decision.  I mean, because right now (UI), with that 

tree, a thousand for the stump, a thousand here, that’s two… 
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DEFENDANT:   I’d just split it three ways. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Then you got to—you got to fifteen hundred down here. 

DEFENDANT:   Let’s split it three ways. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Well I mean I don’t need a cut because I’m already getting my salary too. 

DEFENDANT:   (IA) 

INDIVIDUAL A: I mean—so you tell me what.  I mean, I don’t want to tell, uhh, ‘cause 

nine—you tell me what I’m going to, uhh, (UI) 

DEFENDANT:   I would say, I just, fifty fifty. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Okay. 

 Finally, towards the end of the conversation, Individual A asked the Defendant when the 

invoices would be paid.  The Defendant estimated they would be paid in November.  

Accordingly, because the Defendant and Shahadey were arrested in early November, a VCSC 

check was not cut for these inflated invoices. 

E. The $200 Gift Card Found in the Defendant’s Wife’s Purse 

When the Defendant was arrested, agents founds evidence of a kickback in the Defendant’s 

wife’s purse.  Several days before the arrest, during the same meeting when Individual A gave 

Shahadey the kickback for the stump removal work at Ouabache Elementary School—during 

which the Defendant, on speakerphone, told Shahadey to collect his share of the kickback too—

Shahadey also told Individual A to purchase a $200 gift card to Sushi Umi, a local high-end sushi 

restaurant, for the Defendant out of their kickback proceeds.  Individual A agreed.  The next day, 

Individual A met the Defendant and gave him a $200 gift card to Sushi Umi that the FBI had 

provided (noting the card’s serial number).  The conversation was recorded: 

INDIVIDUAL A: I went and met nine and went and took care of you and him last night. 

DEFENDANT:   Oh okay. 
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INDIVIDUAL A: Nine pay you? 

DEFENDANT:   I haven’t seen anybody yet. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Make sure he pays you your five [hundred] because you know if you don’t 

get it from him—and he told me you wanted a two hundred dollar gift 

card.  I got your gift card. 

DEFENDANT:   I didn’t want any—I never said anything (U/I). 

INDIVIDUAL A: No, he said he wanted a two hundred—I put it in your car. I—I sat it in 

the seat. 

*  *  * 

INDIVIDUAL A: Well last night. 

DEFENDANT:   Alright. 

INDIVIDUAL A: Make sure, don’t just let him stiff you out of your five. 

DEFENDANT:   I hear you. 

On November 2, 2016, the FBI arrested the Defendant and executed a search warrant at the 

Defendant’s house.  Agents searched the Defendant’s wife’s purse, which was found sitting on 

the kitchen counter.  Inside, agents found a stack of gift cards to various stores and restaurants.  

Among them was the same $200 gift card to Sushi Umi that Individual A had given to the 

Defendant. 

IV. Conclusion 

 The foregoing proffer of the government’s evidence at trial more than meets the 

government’s burden to establish that a conspiracy existed among the Defendant, Shahadey, and 

Individual A to exploit the Defendant’s position as VCSC Facilities Director for personal financial 

gain.  The conspiracy to defraud the VCSC involved the Defendant instructing Individual A how 

much to charge VCSC for purported outdoor maintenance work, approving inflated invoices 

submitted to VCSC by Individual A’s company, and directing Individual A to kick the inflated 
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amount back to Shahadey and the Defendant in cash.  Thus, co-conspirator statements in 

furtherance of conspiracy are admissible pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(E).  As 

described in the Proffer, such statements include: 

 The testimony of Individual A concerning communications with the Defendant and 

Shahadey during the course of their conspiracy about inflating invoices and paying 

kickbacks, and 

 Covertly recorded conversations involving both the Defendant and Shahadey in 

furtherance of the fraudulent scheme captured by Individual A after Individual A began 

cooperating with federal investigators.   

See McClellan, 165 F.3d at 553–54 (holding that government’s Santiago proffer need not list each 

and every co-conspirator statement). 

 

WHEREFORE, pursuant to Santiago, 582 F.2d 1128, the United States respectfully 

requests the Court to find that the government has met its burden and to conditionally admit co-

conspirator statements in furtherance of the above-described conspiracy to defraud the Vigo 

County School Corporation.   

     Respectfully submitted, 

     

JOSH J. MINKLER 

United States Attorney 

 

Date: December 4, 2017  By: /s/ Nicholas J. Linder 

    Tiffany J. McCormick 

Nicholas J. Linder 

Assistant United States Attorneys 

10 West Market Street, Suite 2100 

Indianapolis, IN 46204-3048 

Telephone: 317-226-6333 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on December 4, 2017 a copy of the foregoing Government’s Santiago 

Proffer was filed with the Court via CM/ECF.  A link to this document will be provided via email 

to counsel of record through the Court’s CM/ECF system.  Parties may also access this document 

through that system. 

  

Date: December 4, 2017  By: /s/ Nicholas J. Linder 

    Nicholas J. Linder 

Assistant United States Attorney 
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